IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 25-0686

MCNAIN HOLDINGS LP, and Arizona
Limited Partnership; JAY ROBERT BLAKE;
and NAOMI MONICA BLAKE,

Appellees (Plaintiffs),

v.

WILDERNESS PRESERVE US LP,

Appellant (Defendant).

On Appeal from the Montana Nineteenth Judicial District Court,
Lincoln County, Cause No. DV-27-2023-0000158-BC,
Honorable Matthew J. Cuffe

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Brian M. Joos
GERSH, SIMPSON & JOOS, PLLP
121 Wisconsin Avenue
Whitefish, Montana 59937
Telephone: (406) 862-7800
Facsimile: (406) 862-7820
Email: joos@bigskyattorneys.com

Attorney for Appellant

Fred Simpson / Jill Gerdrum
HALL & EVANS, LLC
125 Bank St., Ste. 403

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Appellant Wilderness Preserve US LP states that the following issues are presented for review:

1. Whether the District Court erred in letting stand a jury verdict which was unsupported by the evidence through denial of Wilderness' Rule 59 motion.
2. Whether the District Court erred in letting stand a jury verdict which was contrary to the law through denial of Wilderness' Rule 59 motion.
3. Whether the District Court erred in awarding attorney's fees and costs to Appellees McNain Holdings LP, Jay Robert Blake, and Naomi Monica Blake on a claim they lost.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellees McNain Holdings LP, Jay Robert Blake, and Naomi Monica Blake (hereafter, “McNain and Blake”) filed this action, in which they made claims (1) for breach of contract and (2) for violation of the Montana Consumer Protection Act. They asserted both claims in relation to their 2015 purchase of two 1/12 interests in a 3-bedroom villa at Wilderness Club, a luxury golf resort near Eureka, Montana.

The district court ruled on McNain’s and Blake’s motion for summary judgment that Wilderness breached the parties’ contract and that McNain and Blake were entitled to fees and costs on the breach of contract claims. However, the district court did not make any summary judgment ruling on damages under the breach of contract claims, and declined to make any summary judgment rulings at all on the Montana Consumer Protection Act claims.

Following the district court’s ruling on summary judgment, a trial was conducted on (1) McNain’s and Blake’s breach of contract damages and (2) the Montana Consumer Protection Act claims. The jury returned a verdict of \$500,000.00 in damages for the breach of contract claims, and a defense verdict in favor of Wilderness on the Montana Consumer Protection Act claims.

Post-trial, the district court awarded fees and costs to McNain and Blake on both claims after briefing and oral argument from both parties. Wilderness then moved under Rule 59, M.R.Civ.P., for a reduction of the verdict amount on the grounds that it is unsupported by the evidence and that it is contrary to law, or in the alternative, for a new trial. That motion was deemed denied pursuant to Rule 59(f), M.R.Civ.P., when the district court did not address the motion in a written order within 60 days of its filing date. The district court also entered an opinion and order purporting to deny the motion after the 60 days had run.

Wilderness appeals both (1) the denial of its Rule 59, M.R.Civ.P., motion, and (2) the award to McNain and Blake of attorneys' fees and costs for the Montana Consumer Protection Act claims, which McNain and Blake lost.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2015, McNain and Blake entered into a contract with Wilderness under which they paid \$150,000.00 for two 1/12 interests in a 3-bedroom villa at the Wilderness Club, a luxury golf resort near Eureka, Montana. *Trial Transcript*, 45:7-46:11; *Trial Exhibits 7 and 11* (Exhibit 7-*Trial Transcript*, 212:17-215:3; Exhibit 11-*Trial Transcript*, 272:9-19). These interests would enable McNain and Blake to use the villa for 4 weeks per year each (one week per quarter), including the enjoyment of golf and other amenities the resort offered. *Trial Transcript*, 158:24-159:1, 216:1-23, 302:2-7. Pursuant to the contract, McNain and Blake were deeded those interests, and McNain and Blake still own them. *Trial Exhibits 7 and 11* (Exhibit 7-*Trial Transcript*, 212:17-215:3; Exhibit 11-*Trial Transcript*, 272:9-19).

However, Wilderness' realtor had hand-scribbled some notes on addenda to the buy-sell contracts which McNain and Blake never signed, to the effect that McNain and Blake would be "transferred" into a 4-bedroom villa when a 4-bedroom villa was constructed, and the addenda further provided that McNain and Blake would be given a break from HOA fees and maintenance dues until a 4-bedroom villa was constructed. *Trial Exhibit 1* at 12-13 and *Trial Exhibit 10* at 12-13 (Exhibit 1-*Trial Transcript*, 199:22-201:19; Exhibit 10-*Trial Transcript*, 267:23-272:8).

By 2023, McNain and Blake had enjoyed relief from HOA fees and maintenance dues for eight years, and it was apparent that no 4-bedroom villas would be constructed. *Trial Transcript*, 216:1-23, 221:19-222:2, 254:19-23, 272:19-273:9. Wilderness contacted McNain and Blake to visit the resort in order to come to some agreement through which they would begin to pay for their use of Wilderness Club like all of the other owners. *Trial Exhibit 2 (Trial Transcript*, 230:19-232:8). During the negotiations, Wilderness representative Brian Ehlert opined in an email that each week's stay was worth \$15,000.00. *Trial Exhibit 2 at 5 (Trial Transcript*, 230:19-232:8). Unfortunately, McNain and Blake refused to visit the resort, and negotiations broke down. *Trial Exhibit 2 at 1-5 (Trial Transcript*, 230:19-232:8). In April of 2023, Wilderness canceled McNain and Blake's reservations for the remainder of 2023 (*Trial Exhibit 2 at 1 [Trial Transcript*, 230:19-232:8]), at which point there were three weeks each, for a total of six weeks, remaining unused of McNain's and Blake's usable weeks at Wilderness Club that year. Wilderness then sold the Wilderness Club resort to a third-party on December 31, 2023. *Trial Transcript* 45:3-7, 364:9-14. Wilderness retained no interest in the resort, and while Brian Ehlert ended up holding an interest in the purchasing entity, this was a silent interest that entitled Mr. Ehlert to no control

whatsoever over the operations of the Wilderness Club. *Trial Transcript* at 297:9-298:11, 364:14-365-7.

Following the cancelation of McNain's and Blake's reservations in April of 2023, including after the resort sold to a new owner, McNain and Blake did not attempt to make new reservations for 2024 or for any subsequent year, or to sell their property interests. *Trial Transcript* at 246:17-248:6, 253:10-254:23, 284:25-285:8; 285:20-286:10, 328:18-329:8, 329:23-330:5, 334:19-335:8. They never made any attempt to contact the resort's new owner by any method at any time for any purpose. Instead, they took no action whatsoever other than filing and pursuing this lawsuit.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As to Issues 1 and 2, on the matter of a jury's verdict, the standard of review is whether there is substantial credible evidence in the record to support it, and the Supreme Court of Montana reviews that evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party in the District Court. *Rocky Mountain Enterprises, Inc. v. Pierce Flooring*, 286 Mont. 282, 295, 951 P.2d 1326, 1334 (1997).

The standard of review for a District Court's denial of a M.R.Civ.P. 59(e) motion to alter or amend is abuse of discretion. *Folsom v. Mont. Pub. Emps. Ass'n*, 2017 MT 204, ¶59, 388 Mont. 307, ¶59, 400 P.3d 706, ¶59. When reviewing a district court's conclusions of law, the Supreme Court of Montana's standard is whether the trial judge's interpretation of the law is correct. *Carr v. Bett*, 1998 MT 266, ¶35, 291 Mont. 326, ¶35, 970 P.2d 1017, ¶35.

As to Issue 3, the Supreme Court of Montana reviews the order granting or denying attorney's fees for an abuse of discretion. *Hurly v. Lake Cabin Dev., LLC*, 2012 MT 77, ¶14, 364 Mont. 425, ¶14, 276 P.3d 854 ¶14.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in its denial of Wilderness' Rule 59 motion because no evidence exists to support the amount of the jury's verdict. The amount of supportable damages can be calculated mathematically based upon the evidence admitted at trial, and it falls far short of the amount the jury ultimately awarded. The verdict amount is based upon a manifest error of fact, namely that McNain's and Blake's loss of use continued after December 2023, a fact that the evidence admitted at trial does not establish, and it was manifest error of law for the district court to deny Wilderness' Rule 59 motion under such circumstances.

The district court also erred in its denial of Wilderness' Rule 59 motion because the jury's verdict violates Montana law as set forth in the jury instructions. First, while the court instructed the jury that the verdict should not award speculative damages or place McNain and Blake into a better position than they would be had the contract's terms been performed, the verdict rendered unquestionably does both by replacing the duty to pay HOA dues and maintenance fees into perpetuity with a half-million dollar windfall while McNain and Blake still own the property interests in question. Second, while the court instructed the jury that McNain and Blake had a duty to mitigate their damages, the jury ignored McNain's and Blake's failure to take any action whatsoever to mitigate their

damages, including failing to attempt to make new reservations, failing to attempt to sell their property, indeed even failing to contact the resort's new owner in any manner at all when the resort sold, and awarded a verdict far in excess of what the evidence supports anyway. Thus, the verdict and the district court's denial of Wilderness' Rule 59 motion were both manifest errors of law.

The district court further erred in awarding McNain and Blake their fees and costs on the Montana Consumer Protection Act claims despite the fact that the jury rendered a defense verdict in Wilderness' favor on those claims. McNain and Blake cannot be entitled to fees and costs on claims where they are not the prevailing party.

Therefore, this Court should reduce the verdict to the mathematically calculable amount supported by the evidence admitted at trial, and should reduce the fee amount to remove fees attributed to the Montana Consumer Protection Act claims on which McNain and Blake lost. In the alternative, this Court should remand the case back to district court for a new trial and for new post-trial proceedings regarding fees and costs.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1: WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN LETTING STAND A JURY VERDICT WHICH WAS UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE THROUGH DENIAL OF WILDERNESS' RULE 59 MOTION.

A. McNain and Blake bore the burden of proof on the issue of their breach of contract damages, including most importantly the amount of time during which they lost the use of their property interests.

It is a fundamental principle of law that a plaintiff bears the burden of proving the elements of their affirmative claims and its damages. § 26-1-401, MCA; *Instruction No. 2* (Doc. 45 at 7) (“...the plaintiffs have the burden of proof...”). Here, McNain and Blake asserted the breach of contract claims as plaintiffs. *Complaint* (Doc. 1 at ¶¶ 24-37); *Pretrial Order* (Doc. 24 at 3-9). Therefore, they bear the burden of proof on all of the elements of those claims, including damages. Per McNain’s and Blake’s counsel, one of the elements of those damages was loss of use of the property at issue. *Trial Transcript* at 472:25-473:9.

While claimants bearing the burden of proof may seem an elementary point, McNain and Blake somehow do not concede it. Instead of agreeing that they bore the burden of proving the duration of their loss of use of the property at issue, they argue that somehow Wilderness, the defendant, instead bore that burden. *Plaintiffs’*

Response to Defendant's Rule 59 Motion, Doc. 68 at 8. They cite no authority for this proposition, likely because none exists. *Id.* Further, they argue, Wilderness failed to “prove” that following the sale of the resort to a third party over which Wilderness had no control, McNain’s and Blake’s alleged loss of use did not continue. *Id.* Of course, this is entirely backwards. McNain and Blake obviously bore the burden of proving the duration of their loss of use, an element of their damages on a claim that they asserted as plaintiffs, including proving that such alleged loss continued under the resort’s new owner.

The Court must ignore this burden-shifting nonsense argued without supporting authority and find that, as has been the case for plaintiffs since the inception of jurisprudence in this country, McNain and Blake bore the burden of proof to prove all of the elements of claims they asserted as plaintiffs.

B. The evidence presented at trial proves with mathematical certainty that the maximum amount of McNain’s and Blake’s damages is \$115,984.00. Despite this, the jury awarded \$500,000.00 because, while the evidence shows McNain and Blake lost the use of their property interests for six weeks, the jury awarded loss of use damages for nearly thirty-two weeks, over five times in excess of what the evidence supports.

The components of McNain’s and Blakes’ breach of contract damages, according to their own counsel, are (1) the difference in value between two 1/12 interests a 4-bedroom villa, which is what McNain and Blake testified they thought

they were purchasing, and two 1/12 interests in a 3-bedroom villa, which is what McNain and Blake actually received via their respective deeds; and (2) the loss of use of McNain's and Blake's respective 1/12 interests following the April, 2023 email in which they were informed by Wilderness Club that their reservations had been canceled. *Trial Transcript* at 472:25-473:9.

McNain and Blake offered no evidence at trial or in discovery as to element (1). Therefore, the only evidence admitted that could be used to determine that amount is the opinion of Wilderness' expert, realtor Allyson Sabo, as to the present value of each 1/12 interest in a 3-bedroom villa. She opined that value to be \$38,976.00. *Trial Transcript* at 342:10-23. If one divides that amount by the number of bedrooms, one comes to the value of \$12,992.00 per bedroom. This means that McNain, and Blake, could each claim only \$12,992.00 for element (1) because that is the only evidence admitted as to that value, and that the total for McNain and Blake for element (1) is \$25,984.00. There can be no argument that this amount is not correct, because there was no other evidence introduced regarding it.

As to element (2), the only evidence offered by either party as to the value of a week's stay at a 4-bedroom villa was an April, 2023 email in which Wilderness' representative Brian Ehlert stated that value to be \$15,000.00. *Trial Transcript* at

165:14-19, 240:11-17, 244:25-245:3, 313:18-22, 371:2-16. It was also undisputed that the Defendant, Wilderness Preserve US LP, sold the resort to Escalante Golf on December 31, 2023 (*Trial Transcript* at 296:3-8, 364:10-365:7). Additionally, all McNain and Blake witnesses testified that they never contacted the resort's new owner or made any other effort whatsoever to determine whether the new owner would permit McNain and Blake to return to the same use of their properties they enjoyed prior to April 2023, or to return on some other terms acceptable to them. *Trial Transcript* at 246:17-248:6, 253:10-254:23, 284:25-285:8; 285:20-286:10, 328:18-329:8, 329:23-330:5, 334:19-335:8.

This means that there is no evidence whatsoever that McNain and Blake lost the use of their properties during any period of time other than April 2023 through December 2023, and that it was a fundamental error of fact to determine otherwise. Thus, if McNain and Blake were each entitled to 4 weeks per year at the resort (*Trial Transcript* at 286:15-22, 302:2-6), then they each lost 3/4 of those weeks during 2023. This amounts to a total of \$90,000.00, calculated as \$15,000.00 per week for each of McNain's and Blake's two ownership interests. Added to the \$25,984.00 difference in value between a 2 3-bedroom interests and 2 4-bedroom interests, this amounts to a total verdict of \$115,984.00, i.e. \$384,016.00 lower than the jury's \$500,000.00 verdict. No higher amount can be supported by the

evidence admitted at trial. This is because, while McNain and Blake failed to meet their burden of proof in demonstrating that their loss of use continued after the resort sold to a third-party over which Wilderness had no control, the jury awarded damages for such loss of use anyway.

Since \$115,984.00 is, objectively, the maximum amount of damages supportable by the evidence admitted at trial, the district court committed manifest errors of both fact and law when it failed to reduce the verdict amount accordingly through denial of Wilderness' Rule 59 motion. As a result, this Court should reduce the verdict amount from \$500,000.00 to \$115,984.00.¹ In the alternative, this Court should remand the case to the district court for a new trial.

¹McNain and Blake did not contest below that the Court's powers to amend a judgment include the ability to reduce the amount of a jury's verdict when it is excessive or unsupported by the evidence presented at trial under *Nesbitt v. City of Butte*, 118 Mont. 84, 163 P.2d 251 (1945); *Miller v. Emerson*, 120 Mont. 380, 186 P.2d 220 (1947); and *Klemens & Son v. Reber Plumbing and Heating Co.*, 139 Mont. 115, 360 P.2d 1005 (1961). *Response to Defendant's Rule 59 Motion*, Doc. 68. Thus, Wilderness will not belabor that point here.

ISSUE 2: WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN LETTING STAND A JURY VERDICT WHICH WAS CONTRARY TO THE LAW THROUGH DENIAL OF WILDERNESS' RULE 59 MOTION.

A. The jury's verdict violates the law because it places McNain and Blake in a position far better than if the terms of the contract been performed, and because it contains speculative damages.

At trial, the district court instructed the jury both (a) that damages may not be speculative, and (b) that damages should not place the Plaintiffs into a better position than they would have been had the contract's terms been performed, but rather into as good a position:

INSTRUCTION NO. 16

Damages for breach of contract serve to compensate the aggrieved party for the loss sustained. The nonbreaching party should receive a sum that will put it in as good a position as if the contract had been performed.

INSTRUCTION NO. 17

Although damages need not be proved to a mathematical certainty, mere conjecture and speculation cannot provide the basis for an award of damages, and damages must be the proximate result of the wrong of which the complaint is made.

Doc. 45 at pages 24, 26.

Here, in violation of these instructions, the jury awarded speculative damages which place McNain and Blake into a position far better than the position

they would be in had the contracts' terms been performed. This was a manifest error of law.

First, it cannot be argued that the jury's verdict does not include loss of use damages past the Wilderness' ownership of the resort—there would be no way to award such damages otherwise based upon the evidence presented, and indeed McNain and Blake specifically asked for 20 years of loss of use damages, over 19 years in excess of the actual loss of use demonstrated at trial. *Trial Transcript* at 454:2-455:1. But such damages are speculative. Again, all McNain and Blake witnesses testified that they never contacted the resort's new owner or made any other effort whatsoever to determine whether the new owner would permit them to return to the same use of their properties they enjoyed prior to April 2023, or under some other arrangement satisfactory to them. *Trial Transcript* at 246:17-248:6, 253:10-254:23, 284:25-285:8; 285:20-286:10, 328:18-329:8, 329:23-330:5, 334:19-335:8. Thus, it is pure speculation, supported by no evidence whatsoever, that McNain and Blake lost the right to use their property at any time other than April through December of 2023. As Instruction 17 provides, “conjecture and speculation cannot provide the basis for an award of damages.” Thus, this portion of the verdict is unsupported by any evidence, and must be reduced to an amount actually supportable by the evidence produced at trial.

Second, a \$500,000.00 award places McNain and Blake into a far better position than they would have been had the contract been performed. *Doc. 45* at pages 1-2. They paid only \$150,000.00 in the first place for their property interests (*Trial Transcript* at 45:7-15, 198:8-15, 215:21-25, 382:15-18), meaning that the verdict more than triples their investment even though McNain and Blake undisputedly still own the property interests they purchased (*Trial Transcript* at 45:15-46:5, 246:7-16, 268:23-270:272-13, 284:19-24, *Trial Exhibit 7* and *Trial Exhibit 11* [Exhibit 7-*Trial Transcript*, 212:17-215:3; Exhibit 11-*Trial Transcript*, 272:9-19]), which are worth a total of \$77,952.00. *Trial Transcript* at 342:10-23. If the contracts had been performed, McNain and Blake would have been paying maintenance dues to maintain their properties moving forward, not receiving a half-million dollar cash windfall. It is difficult to conceive of any way in which McNain's and Blake's position following the verdict is not far better than where they would be had the contracts been performed.²

Thus, because the amount of the jury's verdict, unsupported by the evidence, contains speculative damages which place McNain and Blake into a far better position than had the contract been performed, in violation of the law as contained

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