IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 25-0686

MCNAIN HOLDINGS LP, an Arizona Limited Partnership;
JAY ROBERT BLAKE; and NAOMI MONICA BLAKE,

Appellees (Plaintiffs),

v.

WILDERNESS PRESERVE US LP,

Appellant (Defendant).

On Appeal from the Montana Nineteenth Judicial District Court,
Lincoln County, Cause No. DV-27-2023-0000158-BC,
The Honorable Matthew J. Cuffe, district judge, presiding

APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF

Brian M. Joos
GERSH, SIMPSON & JOOS, PLLP
121 Wisconsin Avenue
Whitefish, Montana 59937
Telephone: (406) 862-7800
Facsimile: (406) 862-7820
Email: joos@bigskyattorneys.com

Fred Simpson / Jill Gerdrum
HALL & EVANS, LLC
125 Bank St., Ste. 403

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Wilderness sold the Homeowners a fractional interest in a luxury Montana golf resort for \$150,000, entitling them to stay at the resort for one week per quarter in a yet-to-be-built 4-bedroom villa. Since it promised them a 4-bedroom villa and the Homeowners paid for it, Wilderness agreed they would owe no maintenance fees until that villa was built, and would lodge them in alternative accommodations in the meantime. But Wilderness *never* built the 4-bedroom villa purchased by the Homeowners. After nearly eight years of honoring the deal,

Wilderness decided it had made a bad bargain and demanded that the Homeowners start paying fees their contract said they did not owe. When they refused, Wilderness locked them out.

After a three-day trial, the jury awarded the Homeowners \$500,000 in damages. In light of the largely undisputed evidence presented at trial, the verdict was restrained, not excessive. Wilderness's own managing partner, Brian Ehlert, valued each week's stay at \$15,000. Each couple was entitled to use its interest for four weeks per year, and the unrefuted testimony of the Homeowners was they would have used the property for another five to forty years. By Wilderness's own math, the damages could have exceeded \$2 million, but the jury awarded far less.

Wilderness now asks this Court to slash the verdict to \$115,984. Its theory is that damages stopped when it sold the resort—to a new entity in which its managing partner is a member, and the registered agent. But Wilderness introduced no evidence that this sale extinguished its liability. It introduced no evidence that the new owner assumed its contractual obligations. And it introduced no evidence that anyone ever invited the Homeowners to return. The only evidence on that point came from Wilderness's own witness, Brian Ehlert, who admitted he never contacted the Homeowners to restore their rights.

The standard here is demanding: this Court affirms if substantial credible evidence supports the verdict. The evidence does more than that. It proves the jury

could have awarded significantly more. Wilderness is not entitled to a new trial or a reduction of the judgment simply because it dislikes the result.

Wilderness also challenges the attorney's fee award, arguing the Homeowners should not recover fees because the jury found that Wilderness did not violate the Montana Consumer Protection Act. But the Homeowners were unquestionably the prevailing parties—they obtained a \$500,000 judgment on their breach of contract claim. The contract itself entitled them to fees, and the district court so ruled at summary judgment. That Wilderness prevailed (or rather, did not lose) on one claim does not transform it into the prevailing party entitled to fees.

The judgment should be affirmed, and the Homeowners awarded their attorney's fees and costs on this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. Substantial Credible Evidence Supports the Jury's \$500,000 Verdict.

Wilderness's attack on the verdict rests on a false premise: that the Homeowners bore the burden of proving their damages did not end when Wilderness sold the resort, and that their failure to contact the new owner forecloses any damages beyond December 2023. This inverts the law and ignores the evidence.

A. The Evidence Established Damages Far Exceeding \$500,000.

The jury heard uncontradicted evidence of the Homeowners' damages. Wilderness's own managing partner, Brian Ehlert, valued a weekly stay at \$15,000. Trial Tr. 313:18–21. Each couple was entitled to four weeks per year. Trial Tr. 206:4–13, 286:16–21, 302:2–6. That yields \$60,000 per year per couple in lost use value.

The Homeowners testified about the duration of their intended use. Tom McNain testified he planned to use the property for five to ten years. Trial Tr. 245:4–15. Jay Blake testified to his anticipated future use from twenty to forty years. Trial Tr. 282:9–16. At the low end—five years of lost use at \$60,000 per year—the McNains alone suffered \$300,000 in damages for loss of use of their property. At the high end—forty years—the Blake suffered \$2.4 million in lost use.

The jury awarded \$250,000 to each couple. That figure is consistent with approximately four years of lost use per couple (two years up to the time of trial, and two years into the future), plus the \$12,992 per-couple value differential that Wilderness's own expert assigned to the difference between the 3-bedroom interest the Homeowners received and the 4-bedroom interest they were promised but will never receive. Trial Tr. 342:10–23. By any measure, the verdict fell at the conservative end of what the evidence supported.

Wilderness does not dispute the \$15,000-per-week valuation—it came from its own witness. It does not dispute that each couple was entitled to four weeks per year. And it does not dispute that the Homeowners testified to years of intended future use. Its only argument is that damages must have stopped in December 2023 because it sold the resort. That argument fails.

B. Wilderness Presented No Evidence That the Sale Extinguished Its Liability.

Wilderness’s central contention is that its damages exposure ended when it sold the resort to Escalante Golf. Wilderness cannot escape liability for its undisputed breach of contract by claiming, without proof, that its liability magically disappeared when it sold the resort – a transaction in which the Homeowners played no part, and from which they received no benefit.

Regardless, Wilderness introduced no evidence to support this theory at trial. It presented no evidence that the sale agreement assigned its contractual obligations to Escalante, nor did it present evidence that Escalante assumed Wilderness’s duties to construct a 4-bedroom villa or to allow the Homeowners to use the property free of any maintenance fees until the 4-bedroom villa was constructed. And it presented no evidence that the Homeowners’ loss of use ended when the sale to Escalante closed. On the other hand, as discussed in Section I.A., *supra*, the Homeowners presented uncontradicted testimony that they had been

locked out of their property since the Spring of 2023 and had never been invited back. That testimony more than sufficed to meet the Homeowners' burden of proof on their damages.

Wilderness introduced no evidence at trial that its obligations under the purchase agreements with the Homeowners had been assigned to Escalante Golf. There was no testimony from any witness on this point, nor was Wilderness's agreement with Escalante introduced as an exhibit. In the absence of proof of an assignment, Wilderness still owed the Homeowners the duties under the purchase agreement to provide them with the promised 4-bedroom villa, and to allow them to stay at the resort without the duty to pay any maintenance fees until the 4-bedroom villa had been completed.

Moreover, Wilderness did not offer any evidence that Wilderness had notified the Homeowners and obtained their consent to any purported transfer of its obligations under the purchase agreements. In the absence of the Homeowners' consent, Wilderness could not transfer its obligations under the purchase agreements to Escalante. Montana Code Annotated § 28-1-1002 ("The burden of an obligation may be transferred with the consent of the party entitled to its benefits, but not otherwise . . .") Because there was no evidence the Homeowners consented to Wilderness's purported assignment of its duties under the purchase

agreements, Wilderness remains liable to the Homeowners regardless of its sale of the resort at the end of 2023.

The testimony of Wilderness’s managing partner, Mr. Ehlert—who remains a member of the new entity and its registered agent—supported the Homeowners’ position as Mr. Ehlert admitted he never contacted the Homeowners on behalf of Escalante to restore their rights. Trial Tr. 297:14–298:11, 298:17–21. Indeed, no one from Escalante ever invited the Homeowners back to the resort. Trial Tr. 242:17–243:11, 325:17–326:1, 327:2–5, 335:14–24. After the sale to Escalante, the Homeowners stopped receiving the reservation emails they had received for seven years. Trial Tr. 325:13–326:1. As far as the evidence shows, the lockout that began in May 2023 continues to this day.

Wilderness cannot escape liability for its breach by selling the resort to an entity it controls—and then arguing that the Homeowners should have begged that entity for restoration of the rights Wilderness took from them.

C. Wilderness’s “Mathematical” Calculation Is a Prohibited Invitation to Reweigh the Evidence.

Wilderness presents an elaborate calculation purporting to show that the “maximum” supportable damages are \$115,984. Appellant’s Br. At 11–14. This calculation assumes that damages stopped in December 2023, that the

Homeowners are entitled to only six weeks of lost use (three weeks each for the remainder of 2023), and that they may recover nothing for future lost use.

Every premise of this calculation is wrong. The jury heard evidence that the Homeowners intended to use the property for years—not weeks. Their testimony on this point was uncontested. The jury also heard evidence that no one ever invited them back. And it heard evidence that the man who locked them out, Brian Ehlert, remains involved with the entity now operating the resort. The jury weighed this evidence and reached its verdict.

Wilderness’s argument is not that the evidence compels a different result. It is that Wilderness would have weighed the evidence differently. That is precisely the kind of second-guessing this Court does not undertake. *Suzor*, ¶ 40 (“It is not our function to agree or disagree with the jury’s verdict.”)

II. The Verdict Does Not Violate Montana Law.

Wilderness argues the verdict violates the jury instructions because it supposedly awards speculative damages and places the Homeowners in a better position than performance would have. Neither contention withstands scrutiny.

A. The Damages Are Not Speculative.

Instruction No. 17 told the jury that “mere conjecture and speculation cannot provide the basis for an award of damages.” Doc. 45 at 26. Wilderness argues that

any damages beyond December 2023 are “speculative” because the Homeowners did not prove their loss of use continued under the new owner.

First, as discussed above, that argument fails because Wilderness presented no evidence that it assigned its duties under the purchase agreements to the new owner, or that the Homeowners had consented to the transfer of Wilderness’s duties to the new owner.

Second, Wilderness’s argument confuses uncertainty with speculation. The Homeowners testified to concrete, quantifiable losses: the value of weekly stays (established by Wilderness’s own representative), the number of weeks per year they were entitled to stay at the property (established by the contract), and the duration of intended use (established by the Homeowners’ testimony). Wilderness presented no conflicting evidence on any of these points. The jury was entitled to credit this unrefuted evidence and to conclude that Wilderness’s breach caused years of lost use—not merely a few months.

Moreover, even if its position was legally justified (and it is not), Wilderness’s position would require the Homeowners to prove a negative: that the new owner *would not* have honored their rights. But the evidence showed the opposite. No one from the new entity ever contacted the Homeowners or invited them back. The same person who locked them out—Mr. Ehlert—remains involved with the new entity as its registered agent and admitted he never contacted the

Homeowners to restore their rights. The jury reasonably inferred that the loss of use continued; indeed, no other result is warranted based on this evidence.

“Although damages need not be proved to a mathematical certainty,” the instruction stated, they must be “the proximate result of the wrong.” Doc. 45 at 26. The jury found they were. That finding is more than supported by the substantial credible evidence described above.

B. The Verdict Does Not Place the Homeowners in a Better Position Than Performance.

Instruction No. 16 told the jury that contract damages should put the nonbreaching party “in as good a position as if the contract had been performed.” (Doc. 45 at 24.) Wilderness argues that a \$500,000 verdict exceeds what the Homeowners would have received under the contract because they paid only \$150,000 for their interests.

This argument misunderstands the measure of damages. The Homeowners did not lose \$150,000. They lost years of use of a promised 4-bedroom villa at a luxury resort property—use that Wilderness itself valued at \$15,000 per week. That was one of the benefits of their bargain that Wilderness unlawfully took away. Had the contract been performed, the Homeowners would have enjoyed that use indefinitely, subject only to a duty to pay maintenance fees once a 4-bedroom

villa was constructed. Wilderness never built the villa, so that condition was never triggered.

The Homeowners still own their fractional interests. But those interests are worthless if they cannot use them. The \$500,000 verdict compensates them for years of lost use—not for the purchase price they paid a decade ago.

Moreover, Wilderness’s argument is contrary to Montana law governing the measure of damages for breach of contract:

For the breach of an obligation arising from contract, the measure of damages, except when otherwise expressly provided by this code, is the amount which will compensate the party aggrieved for all the detriment which was proximately caused thereby or in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom. Damages which are not clearly ascertainable in both their nature and origin cannot be recovered for a breach of contract.

Mont. Code Ann. § 27-1-311. The statute allows recovery of both expectancy damages and consequential damages. *Kostelecky v. Peas in a Pod LLC*, 2022 MT 195, ¶ 41 n. 25, 410 Mont. 239, 518 P.3d 840 (citing *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Freyer*, 2013 MT 301, ¶ 31 n. 2, 372 Mont. 191, 312 P.3d 403). Expectancy damages are “the amount necessary to compensate for what the non-breaching party ‘would [have] receive[d] if the contract were performed[.]’” *Kostelecky*, ¶ 41 n. 25 (citing *Arrowhead Sch. Dist. No. 75 v. Klyap*, 2003 MT 294, ¶ 20, 318 Mont. 103, 79 P.3d 250). “Consequential damages are those damages ‘within the contemplation

of the parties when they entered into the contract, and such as might naturally be expected to result from its violation.” *Freyer*, ¶ 31 (citing *Mont. Petroleum Tank Release Comp. Bd. v. Crumleys*, 2008 MT 2, ¶ 64, 341 Mont. 33, 174 P.3d 948).

In this case, the Homeowners would have received use of their property through the time of trial and indefinitely into the future, which Wilderness valued at \$60,000 per year per couple, if Wilderness had performed the contract. They would have also received a 4-bedroom unit, which had more value than the 3-bedroom unit which they actually received. Regardless of the label attached – expectancy or consequential damages – pursuant to Montana Code Annotated § 27-1-311, the Homeowners were entitled to recover their loss of use and the difference between the value of the 3-bedroom unit they received and the 4-bedroom unit they were promised.

If the Homeowners were limited to recovering only their \$150,000 (combined) purchase price, then any breaching party could escape liability for expectancy and consequential damages by refunding the contract price. That is not Montana law. The measure of damages is the value of what was lost, not the price paid.

C. The Jury Properly Considered Mitigation.

Instruction No. 18 told the jury that the Homeowners had “a duty to minimize their damages,” but that duty “does not require them to do what is unreasonable or impracticable.” Doc. 45 at 27.

Wilderness argues the Homeowners failed to mitigate because they never contacted the new owner to request restoration of their contract rights. But the duty to mitigate does not require a victim of breach to beg the breaching party—or its successor/assignee—for relief. The Homeowners had a contract with Wilderness, not Wilderness’s assignee, and Wilderness breached it. The onus was on Wilderness (or its successor) to remedy the breach, not on the Homeowners to plead for what they were already owed.

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